STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Jan 16 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

—————
Certiorari to Pickens County

Honorable Patrick Cleburne Fant, III, Circuit Court Judge
—————

JOSEPH CAMPBELL WILLIAMS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-000730
—————

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
—————

LARA M. CAUDY
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the post-conviction relief (PCR) court err by finding trial counsel was not ineffective when counsel failed to proffer evidence of the complainant's prior false accusations of sexual abuse against other men and argue the evidence was admissible pursuant to State v. Boiter, 302 S.C. 381, 396 S.E.2d 364 (1990), to attack the complainant's credibility, where there is reasonable probability the trial court would have admitted this evidence if counsel had correctly proffered the evidence and argued for its admissibility, or in the alternative, the appellate court would have reversed the trial court if counsel had properly preserved the issue for appeal?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 30, 2013, Petitioner's stepdaughter, then seventeen years old, reported to the Pickens County Sheriff's Office that Petitioner had sexually abused her when she was between the ages of seven and twelve years old. App. 63, l. 1 – 64, l. 4. The complainant was twenty-one years old at the time of trial. App. 86, ll. 21-22. From a very young age, the complainant and her younger sister lived with their maternal grandparents after their parents separated. The complainant testified that when she was six years old, she began living with her mother and Petitioner on South Lewis Street. App. 89, ll. 8-20. One night when she was seven years old and still living on South Lewis Street, the complainant alleged Petitioner laid down on the living room floor with her, kissed her, and rubbed her chest and legs close to her "privates." App. 91, l. 13 – 93, l. 13.

When the family moved to Jane Lane, the complainant claimed that the rubbing progressed to oral sex. App. 94, l. 3 – 98, l. 18. However, it was around this time that the complainant and her sister went to live with their grandparents on Railroad Street. When the complainant was ten years old and about to start fifth grade, she and her sister moved to High Top Drive where their mother and Petitioner were living. The complainant testified that the trailer on High Top Drive is "where the majority of everything that [Petitioner] done to [her] happened." However, the complainant admitted that, at that time, her grandparents lived a "couple of driveways down from [them]" on High Top Drive and she slept at her grandparents' trailer as much as she could. App. 94, l. 7 – 101, l. 2.

The complainant testified that the alleged abuse stopped about a week before her thirteenth birthday after she told Petitioner that she "lost [her] virginity" to her then boyfriend. App. 105, l. 3 – 107, l. 20. The alleged abuse never progressed beyond oral sex.

The complainant was in and out of counseling at Behavioral Health Services for various reasons from 2003 until 2011 when she was between the ages of six and fifteen years old. App. 132, l. 22 – 133, l. 2; App. 210, ll. 2-5. She was initially referred to Behavioral Health Services when she was six years old for “lying, defiance, foul language, false reports of abuse, some anger issues.” App. 215, l. 21 – 216, l. 3. The counselor at Behavioral Health testified that “there were some allegations of physical abuse by DSS, but those were unfounded at the time.” App. 216, ll. 7-8. When she was eight years old and in the third grade, the complainant was referred for services by Pickens Elementary School for “lying, telling exaggerated stories, behavior problems, being defiant.” App. 217, ll. 1-4. The counselor testified that “there were reports during this time that she [the complainant] had been touched inappropriately by two separate men.” App. 217, ll. 8-10.

When she was ten years old, the complainant was referred to Behavioral Health for services by DSS “because she had made reports at school that her mom was being physically abusive to her.” The complainant’s mother said at the time that the complainant was “defiant” and that “she may have been sexually abused.” According to the counselor, the complainant “had accused two men of previously trying to rape her, was her terms.” App. 218, ll. 3-15.

When the complainant was twelve years old, she was referred by Liberty Middle School because she stated, “that she felt like killing a girl.” The counselor testified that “the sexual abuse history was identified during that assessment also” and the complainant “reported having bruises, being hit by her mom.” App. 219, ll. 1-10. When she was fourteen years old, the complainant “reported being raped by another individual,” but “his name wasn’t listed” in the counselor’s records. App. 220, ll. 6-16. Throughout the years, the complainant also expressed

symptoms of depression and anxiety that appeared to go untreated. App. 218, ll. 16-21; App. 219, ll. 10-21; App. 220, l. 17 – 221, l. 2.

Despite reporting other allegations of sexual abuse over the years, the complainant repeatedly denied Petitioner had sexually abused her when directly questioned. During a counseling session on October 2, 2009, when the complainant was ten, her therapist asked her if Petitioner, her stepfather, had ever sexually assaulted her. The complainant told her therapist Petitioner had not. App. 148, l. 13 – 150, l. 11. Subsequently, on November 2, 2011, the complainant sought assistance from Healthy Families when she was pregnant with her first child. One of the questions on the intake form asked if the complainant had ever been the victim of sexual abuse by a relative or family member, such as a parent, stepparent, or guardian. The complainant “did not say anything about” the alleged abuse by Petitioner. However, she did report being raped by a nonfamily member on this same form. App. 150, l. 18 – 152, l. 22.

On November 29, 2017, the night before the complainant reported the alleged sexual abuse to the sheriff’s office, she posted on Facebook: “I think its funny people wanna say they beat someone’s ass when in reality they the ones who got beat. Pussy ass n***** wanna run, won’t face a man, but wanna talk shit when everybody’s gone. World War 3 is about to begin and everybody gonna wish they never fucked with me! That aint a threat, that’s a promise! App. 153, l. 14 – 154, l. 24. That same night, the complainant sent a private Facebook message to her mother that read:

You tell daddy I aint gonna control your house? I aint trying to control your house. That’s what all them teenagers are there for you and your fucked up daughter, Minor 2. You sit there and allow all those punks at your house and let them come back after they get Minor 2 to fight me and are doin all those drugs at your house smoking weed in the building and letting Alexa come right in there with em. Alexa is wandering around inside and outside not bein watched walkin around with knives outta the dishwasher cuz she aint being watched. Last time I checked DSS has done said if they get a wiff of this shit again that shit would be

done. And its like no one down there cares and obviously you don't neither cuz you allow them down there anyway. Minor 2 is gonna end up dead or in jail because of them and you aint doin shit to stop it and I'm here to tell you that your being there doesn't make a damn bit of difference and your in denial if you think it does. I get treated like shit for givin a fuck about my brothers and my niece because they don't deserve to be taken away from their family because of everyone else's bullshit but no I'm always the bitch startin shit and I'm put down and everyone else comes before me and you let them. You're my mom and I feel like you don't give a fuck about me. So guess what, I'm gonna quit givin a fuck about everyone and everything and worry about me because all yall are doing is distracting me from what I need to be focused on. I'm tired of worryin about my niece all the time and whether she's watched or not. I shouldn't have to. That's my baby girl and I'm no longer gonna be there for her because it's hurting me way too much and I can't take it anymore. I'm coming to get my shit from your house and I'm not coming back. Bye.

App. 156, l. 6 – 160, l. 19.

Hours after this Facebook activity, the complainant, while in the company of her biological father, reported the alleged sexual abuse by Petitioner to law enforcement. App. 151, ll. 4-11; App. 154, l. 2 – 160, l. 19.

Wendy Williams, the complainant's mother and Petitioner's wife, although the two were separated at the time of trial, testified that Petitioner was never left alone with the complainant while the family lived on South Lewis Street and Jane Lane. Wendy explained that the complainant and her sister always slept at their grandparents' house during this time period and were only at Wendy and Petitioner's residence "during waking hours." App. 250, l. 15 – 256, l. 9. When the family moved to High Top Drive, there were some nights when the complainant slept at Petitioner and Wendy's residence, but Wendy was always home when this occurred. Wendy explained that Petitioner and their two sons slept in the master bedroom, the complainant and her sister shared a bedroom on the other side of the house, and Wendy slept in the living room, which was in the middle of the house, at High Top Drive. Wendy never heard or saw "anything inappropriate between" the complainant and Petitioner. App. 256, l. 13 – 257, l. 18.

Wendy testified that she never left the complainant or her sister alone with Petitioner because both the complainant and her sister had previously made accusations against other men and Wendy was “always leery.” Wendy further explained that the complainant told numerous lies about Wendy and, consequently, Wendy was “always worried” to leave her girls alone with Petitioner because she did not want Petitioner “to be put in that situation.” Wendy maintained that the complainant’s biological father would encourage her to tell such lies. App. 264, l. 1 – 265, l. 11.

Rebecca Miller, Wendy’s sister and the complainant’s aunt, testified that she has always had a close relationship with the complainant and lived nearby the family. She explained that between 2003 and 2009, the complainant primarily lived with Rebecca’s parents, the complainant’s grandparents. Rebecca saw the complainant and her sister almost on a daily basis. To her knowledge, the complainant never stayed the night at Wendy and Petitioner’s trailer on Jane Lane. Also, to her knowledge, the complainant was never in the same house with Petitioner if Wendy, the complainant’s mother, or another adult, was not home. App. 282, l. 19 – 289, l. 9.

Christopher Williams, Petitioner’s brother, testified that between 2003 and 2009, he saw Petitioner, his wife, Wendy, and the complainant on a “frequent basis.” For part of that time, Petitioner and Christopher worked construction and drove to work together every day. Christopher never saw Petitioner alone with the complainant. He explained that he and Petitioner had had conversations about Petitioner being alone with the complainant and her younger sister. Christopher testified that the complainant “had a troubled past” and she “had already made false accusations.” However, the court sustained the state’s objection to this testimony and struck it from the record. App. 296, l. 6 – 301, l. 15.

Petitioner denied sexually abusing the complainant. He testified that the complainant and her sister always spent the night with their grandparents because he refused to stay with them. App. 302, l. 8 – 303, l. 21. Between 2003 and 2009, Petitioner never allowed himself to be alone with the complainant because he was afraid the complainant would “make up some kind of allegations” about Petitioner. On the rare occasions the complainant slept at Petitioner and Wendy’s trailer, Petitioner went to his mother’s house with his two sons to avoid being in the same residence with the complainant. App. 309, l. 9 – 310, l. 6.

Petitioner attempted to testify that he never allowed himself to be alone with the complainant because she had previously made false accusations, but the trial court sustained the state’s objection to this testimony pursuant to the “rape shield statute.” For whatever reason, the trial court also prevented Petitioner from fully proffering what he sought to admit regarding the complainant’s false allegations. App. 303, l. 18 – 308, l. 13.

A Pickens County grand jury indicted Petitioner on July 14, 2015, for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, and on March 21, 2017, for second degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor.¹ App. 823-828. Petitioner’s case was called to trial on August 31, 2017, before the Honorable Perry Gravely, and a jury. App. 1. Assistant Solicitor Shannon Odom represented the state. Scott Dover represented Petitioner. App. 1.

The jury struggled to reach a verdict and asked several questions during its deliberations, including if it could read the Facebook post the complainant made before disclosing the alleged abuse, to rehear the testimony of the complainant’s aunt, to rehear the testimony of the complainant’s mother, to rehear the complainant’s testimony, and what happens if it cannot agree on a verdict. App. 409, l. 4 – 410, l. 17; App. 452, l. 21 – 455, l. 24. After rehearing

¹ The indictment for first degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor was amended by the grand jury on August 22, 2017.

testimony, the jury told the court it could not reach a unanimous verdict. Accordingly, the court gave the jury an Allen² charge. Twenty-two minutes after the Allen charge, the jury returned with a verdict finding Petitioner guilty as indicted. App. 533, l. 13 – 535, l. 7. He was sentenced to thirty years for first degree CSC with a minor and ten years for second degree CSC with a minor. The sentences were ordered to be served consecutively for an aggregate sentence of forty years imprisonment. App. 538, l. 17 – 539, l. 1.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner’s convictions in an unpublished opinion filed on July 1, 2020. State v. Williams, 2020-UP-199 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 1, 2020). App. 579-582. Petitioner argued on appeal that the trial court abused its discretion by excluding evidence of prior false accusations of sexual abuse made by the complainant against persons other than Petitioner. He also argued the trial court abused its discretion by refusing to allow witnesses, including Petitioner, to testify about the prior false allegations and their effect on Petitioner’s state of mind. The Court of Appeals held Petitioner’s argument that the trial court failed to conduct an analysis pursuant to State v. Boiter, 302 S.C. 381, 396 S.E.2d 364 (1990), in determining the admissibility of the complainant’s prior false allegations of sexual abuse was unpreserved because Petitioner did not raise the argument to the trial court. Regardless, the Court of Appeals held the trial court did not err in excluding the evidence because Petitioner failed to proffer witness testimony or other evidence to show the allegations were false and the prior allegations were too remote to be admitted. App. 579-581. As to the state of mind argument, the Court of Appeals held any statements Petitioner made to others about the complainant’s prior allegations to prove he never spent time alone with the complainant was hearsay and did not fall under any exceptions to the hearsay rule. App. 581- 582.

² Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1986).

Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing with the Court of Appeals on July 14, 2020. App. 583-590. The Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing by order filed August 24, 2020. App. 591. Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari with this Court on September 21, 2020. App. 592-609. The state filed a return to this petition on October 21, 2020. App. 610-621. By order filed May 7, 2021, this Court granted certiorari and ordered further briefing. App. 622. After additional briefing and oral argument, this Court affirmed the decision of the Court of Appeals holding that Petitioner's argument that the trial court erred in excluding evidence that the complainant had falsely accused others of sexual abuse since the evidence does not constitute "prior sexual conduct" for purposes of the "Rape Shield" Statute was "not preserved for *direct* appellate review." State v. Williams, 2022-MO-001 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed January 12, 2022). App. 689-690.

On July 5, 2022, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) raising the claim argued in this petition. App. 691-698. Petitioner filed an amended application on September 10, 2024. App. 699-702. The state filed a return to this application dated October 9, 2024. An evidentiary hearing was convened on October 9, 2024, before the Honorable Patrick Fant. Assistant Attorney General R. Brandon Larrabee represented the state. J. Falkner Wilkes represented Petitioner. App. 711.

Wendy Williams, Petitioner's estranged wife and the complainant's mother, testified at the PCR hearing that from the time the complainant was very young, she would make false accusations of physical abuse against Wendy to the Department of Social Services. The complainant had also made false allegations of sexual abuse against two men, her paternal grandmother's boyfriend and then about two years later, a neighbor. Wendy further explained

that in 2009, the complainant alleged that an individual named Tyler Gilstrap forcefully raped her. App. 719, l. 22 – 721, l. 3.

Wendy testified that Petitioner would never be alone with the complainant due to all of her prior false accusations. Even before Petitioner and Wendy began dating, the complainant had made numerous false allegations against Wendy to DSS. While Wendy was not certain whether the complainant's allegations of sexual abuse against the neighbor were false, Wendy knew the complainant's allegations of sexual abuse involving her paternal grandmother's boyfriend were false and had been made "out of anger." Wendy testified that often after the complainant had talked to her biological father on the phone, the next day, DSS would be "at my door." The false allegations of abuse began when the complainant was around five or six years old and continued into her teens. Having dealt with the complainant's recurring false allegations of abuse, Wendy refused to leave the complainant with Petitioner. When Wendy was at work, she would leave the complainant with Wendy's parents. App. 719, l. 22 – 723, l. 7.

Wendy testified that Petitioner's trial attorney knew about the complainant's false accusations of sexual abuse and the accusations being the reason why Petitioner was never alone with the complainant. App. 723, ll. 9-10.

Christopher Williams, Petitioner's brother, testified at the PCR hearing that he never saw Petitioner alone with the complainant. He explained that Petitioner was aware that the complainant had made accusations of sexual abuse against a neighbor who had lived behind the family. Christopher and Petitioner talked about the complainant's prior allegations and Christopher told Petitioner he should never be alone with the complainant as a result. Based on the complainant's history, Petitioner was concerned the complainant would make a false accusation against Petitioner. App. 739, l. 13 – 741, l. 7.

Scott Dover, Petitioner’s trial counsel, testified that his trial strategy was to attack the credibility of the complainant. He was aware of the prior accusations of sexual abuse that the complainant had lodged against other men before accusing Petitioner. Dover maintained that he attacked the complainant’s credibility “as hard as [he] could” and even “called her a veteran of reporting sexual abuse” during his closing argument. Dover tried to elicit evidence of the complainant’s prior false accusations of sexual abuse during trial from Wendy Williams and Petitioner. However, the trial court excluded some of the evidence Dover sought to admit pursuant to the rape shield statute. Dover testified that he would never have asked the complainant about the allegations involving Tyler Gilstrap or sought to admit this evidence because he believed it violated the rape shield statute.³ App. 750, l. 4 – 752, l. 10.

By order filed April 10, 2025, the PCR court denied Petitioner relief. The court found trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to proffer evidence regarding the prior false accusations of sexual abuse made by the complainant against other men. The court determined Petitioner failed to show the allegations were false. Moreover, the court found Petitioner “did nothing to address the Court of Appeals’ finding regarding the remoteness of the allegations.” Lastly, the court found the prior allegations were not relevant because Petitioner did not show that any of the prior allegations were factually similar to the complainant’s allegations. Consequently, the court found that even if trial counsel had proffered the evidence and preserved

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