RECEIVED

May 01 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Pickens County
The Honorable Patrick Cleburne Fant, III, Circuit Court Judge

JOSEPH CAMPBELL WILLIAMS,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

Appellate Case No. 2025-000730

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

R. BRANDON LARRABEE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104865

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

HON. CYNTHIA S. CRICK
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit
214 East Main Street

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

ARGUMENT

The PCR court did not err in denying relief because, regardless of whether the evidence about the victim’s previous allegation violated the Rape Shield Statute, the evidence would not have been admitted under *Boiter*, and a decision to exclude it would have been affirmed on appeal.

The standards for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are familiar. First, “the defendant must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984). For this prong, courts assess “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” *Id.*

Second, “any deficiencies in counsel’s performance must be prejudicial to the defense in order to constitute ineffective assistance under the Constitution.” *Id.* at 692. “When a defendant challenges a conviction, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt.” *Id.* at 695.

Preservation

Before considering the merits of Williams’ petition, the State questions whether Williams properly preserved the issue regarding victim’s accusations against the paternal grandmother’s boyfriend. The PCR court referenced those accusations in passing. The PCR court did not explicitly consider those allegations under the *Boiter* test—something it clearly did with regard to the allegations against the third party and the neighbor. The allegations were mentioned briefly in the court’s consideration of whether Williams was not allowed to adequately explain his fear of false accusations to the jury.

South Carolina’s preservation rules have two requirements: The issue must be (1) raised to and (2) ruled upon by the lower court. *See I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (“This principle underlies the long-established preservation

requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments.”). The rule does not trap appealing parties that didn’t get a ruling from the lower court. It simply adds another step to the process in that case: filing a motion under Rule 59(e). *See Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004) (“A party *may* wish to file such a motion when she believes the court has misunderstood, failed to fully consider, or perhaps failed to rule on an argument or issue, and the party wishes for the court to reconsider or rule on it. A party *must* file such a motion when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review.”).

Here, the PCR court did not clearly rule upon whether the allegations against the grandmother’s boyfriend would have survived a *Boiter* analysis or would have otherwise been admissible under our state’s evidentiary rules. And Appellant did not file a Rule 59(e) motion to resolve the dispute. As a result, the accusations against the paternal grandmother’s boyfriend, and whether trial counsel improperly decided not to raise them, are not preserved for this Court’s review and should not be considered. However, as explained below, they would not merit reversing the PCR court in any event.

Merits

Williams argues that the PCR court erred by not granting him relief on his claim that trial counsel should have raised the victim’s previous allegations of sexual assault against other men that he contends are untrue. According to Williams, trial counsel wrongly believed—and the PCR court wrongly accepted—that the allegations were barred by the state’s Rape Shield Statute. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-659.1 (West) (specifying the limited instances in which a court should

admit “[e]vidence of specific instances of the victim’s sexual conduct, opinion evidence of the victim’s sexual conduct, and reputation evidence of the victim’s sexual conduct” in cases involving certain sexual offenses).

First, Williams contends that allegedly false reports of sexual assault are not covered by the Rape Shield Statute. Candidly, some courts have found that. *See, e.g., State v. Smith*, 743 So. 2d 199, 202 (La. 1999) (“Because the evidence defendant attempted to introduce did not concern the victim's prior sexual behavior, history or reputation for chastity, we conclude that prior false allegations of sexual assault by the victim do not constitute ‘past sexual behavior’ for purposes of our rape shield statute.”). And our courts have emphasized that the Rape Shield Statute is designed to protect against efforts to undermine the victim’s morality. *See State v. Lang*, 304 S.C. 300, 301, 403 S.E.2d 677, 678 (Ct. App. 1991) (interpreting this Court’s ruling in *State v. Finley*³ as a holding that “the Rape Shield Statute did not bar evidence of a victim’s sexual conduct if the evidence was offered for a purpose other than to attack the victim's morality”); *see also State v. McCoy*, 274 S.C. 70, 72–73, 261 S.E.2d 159, 160 (1979) (“In recent years there has been a great tendency by counsel for persons accused of rape or criminal sexual misconduct to try the prosecutrix instead of the defendant. No doubt the legislature has concluded that such tactics have a chilling effect on prosecutions, to the detriment of society, while providing minimal benefit to the accused person in his defense.”).

The State contends that the Rape Shield Statute would, at least, apply to the testimony about the victim’s allegations against the third individual. There, Williams was trying to make an issue of whether the victim had consented to sexual conduct with the third individual, which could

³ 300 S.C. 196, 387 S.E.2d 88 (1989).

be taken as an attack on her morality. The State does not understand those allegations to be part of William's appeal.

In any event, the PCR court did analyze the allegations against the neighbor, at least, under *Boiter*, which the PCR court read as “[f]illing in the gap” between the Rape Shield Statute and the Confrontation Clause. And the PCR court noted that the Statute does not necessarily apply to “evidence of the victim’s allegations of sexual conduct.” (App. 812). Because the PCR court considered all the allegations under *Boiter*, any misstep on the exact contours of the Rape Shield Statute would not have dramatically altered the PCR court’s conclusion.⁴

So, both the State and Williams agree that *Boiter* is the correct lens through which to view the evidence about the neighbor and the grandmother’s boyfriend. The problem for Williams is that he cannot clear *Boiter*’s evidentiary limits.

In *Boiter*, this Court laid out the standards for when allegedly false accusations of sexual offenses by third parties should be admitted in prosecutions like the case against Williams.

We hold that in deciding admissibility of evidence of a victim's prior accusation, the trial judge should first determine whether such accusation was false. If the prior allegation was false, the next consideration becomes remoteness in time. Finally, the trial court shall consider the factual similarity between prior and present allegations to determine relevancy.

302 S.C. at 383–84, 396 S.E.2d at 365.

Here, Williams cannot get past step one. His argument is that the victim’s previous accusations against other men are false because witnesses at the PCR hearing testified that those

⁴ The PCR court did bar Chris Williams’ testimony about the neighbor under the Rape Shield Statute. (App. 739, l. 24–740, l. 13). In any event, Williams was allowed to proffer the testimony. And as explained below, the testimony would not have satisfied *Boiter* even if it was admissible under the Rape Shield Statute.

witnesses thought the allegations were false. Whatever the standard may be for proving falsity under *Boiter*, it cannot be enough for witnesses to simply say they do not believe the allegations.

Wendy Williams—whose credibility the PCR court questioned because of her relationship with Joseph Williams, (App. 809)—explained why she contended she was hesitant to leave Joseph Williams alone with her children. Wendy Williams testified that the victim had alleged that she was abused by “one man who was a neighbor.” (App. 720, ll. 4–6).

Q Did she ever make allegations of a sexual nature about other people that you believe were false or Mr. Williams believed was false?

[Overruled objection omitted]

THE WITNESS: Yes. She had accused also her paternal grandmother's boyfriend. That was maybe a couple of years after she accused the neighbor. And then it's hard to remember all the dates. . . .

(App. 720, ll. 15 – 24).⁵ Moments later, though, Wendy Williams said she “can’t tell you” whether the allegation against the neighbor was “true or not true.” (App. 722, ll. 15–20). She then testified that she “feel[s] like, with the paternal grandmother’s boyfriend, that was out of anger,” particularly because of previous allegations the victim had made of non-sexual mistreatment against Wendy Williams. (App. 722, l. 20–723, l. 3).

⁵ Wendy Williams then began discussing allegations against another individual who allegedly had sex with the victim when she was underage. (App. 720, l. 23–721, l. 3). After an objection, the rest of Wendy Williams’ testimony about that allegation was heard under a proffer. Because Joseph Williams’ petition before this court argues that trial counsel’s error was “failing to proffer evidence of the complainant’s prior false accusations of sexual abuse against a neighbor and her paternal grandmother’s boyfriend,” Pet. 16, the State does not understand Joseph Williams to be raising the allegations about the third person here. If so, they are without merit, because those allegations are not clearly false. In fact, the opposite is likely true. As Joseph Williams concedes in his own petition, the third individual “pled guilty to second degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor and lewd act upon a child.” Pet. 11.

Chris Williams—Joseph’s brother—also testified about the allegations against the neighbor under proffer. He said the victim “had made allegations against the neighbor that lived behind them previous to this. And my brother and I, we talked about it. And I -- you know, we -- I came and just talked with him that he should never be alone with her due to those previous allegations.” (App. 740, ll. 20–24). Chris Williams then testified that the history of previous allegations made Joseph Williams “concerned” about being alone with the victim. (App. 740, l. 25–741, l. 7).

Before this Court, Joseph Williams argues that trial counsel’s performance was deficient because counsel wrongly believed evidence about the previous allegations would have violated the Rape Shield Statute. But even if counsel was wrong on that narrow issue—and the State does not concede that he was—counsel’s error did not prejudice Williams. The trial court still would likely have excluded the evidence under a *Boiter* analysis, and that decision would likely have been affirmed on appeal.

As discussed before, the PCR court does not appear to have ruled on the allegations against the paternal grandmother’s boyfriend. But the PCR court found that the allegations against the neighbor failed the *Boiter* test in part because Williams presented minimal evidence that the allegations were false. In fact, the PCR court said it was “skeptical that Applicant provided *any* proof that the allegations of abuse by the neighbor were false.” (App. 816) (emphasis added).

The evidence that the allegations against the grandmother’s boyfriend were false is not much stronger. The support for finding those accusations false comes from Wendy Williams’ feeling that the victim’s claim of abuse was a result of the victim’s anger. But feelings are not evidence, and Joseph Williams still has not presented sufficient reason for the PCR court or this Court to find that the victim’s other reports of sexual abuse were false.

As the PCR court noted, it was not writing on a blank sheet of paper. On direct appeal, the Court of Appeals found the issue unpreserved and this Court affirmed specifically on that issue. But the Court of Appeals also considered the evidence under *Boiter* in its initial opinion.

In this case, Williams did not proffer witness testimony or other evidence to show the falsity of the allegations. *See Boiter*, 302 S.C. at 383, 396 S.E.2d at 365 (“[I]n deciding admissibility of evidence of a victim's prior accusation, the trial [court] should first determine whether such accusation was false.”); *State v. Jackson*, 384 S.C. 29, 34, 681 S.E.2d 17, 19 (Ct. App. 2009) (“Generally, the failure to make a proffer of excluded evidence will preclude review on appeal.”). In any event, we find the prior allegations were too remote to be admitted as evidence. *See Boiter*, 302 S.C. at 384, 396 S.E.2d at 365 (holding a prior allegation was too remote to be of sufficient probative value when the victim was eight years old at the time of the incident and seventeen at the time she testified at trial). We find no error in the trial court's exclusion of the evidence.

State v. Williams, Op. No. 2020-UP-199, 2020 WL 3571979, at *1 (S.C. Ct. App. July 1, 2020).

Over the next four years, Williams was able to produce little additional proof that the allegations were false. And even if he had more, the Court of Appeals found the evidence too remote. Williams also argues that the allegedly false accusations were not too remote, because the relevant time frame is the time between the alleged incidents and not the time between the victim's reports. The PCR court observed the question, and found that “a good faith reading of the court of appeals' analysis of this case” suggested that the time between allegations was what was relevant, rather than the time between the incidents. (App. 815). While the PCR court did not expressly rule on this, Williams has not shown that the PCR court erred by not disagreeing with the Court of Appeals.

Given all that, the trial counsel's failure to call for the evidence to be reviewed under *Boiter* was not deficient, because it wouldn't have been admitted. Failing to raise an argument that would have been rejected does not violate “prevailing professional norms.” *See Thompson v. State*, 340 S.C. 112, 115, 531 S.E.2d 294, 296 (2000) (requiring a showing that “counsel failed to render

reasonably effective service under prevailing professional norms” for an ineffective assistance of counsel claim).

And even if it had been deficient, the failure to raise and preserve the issue could not prejudice Williams for two reasons. First, the argument likely would have been rejected by the trial court, and that ruling would likely have been affirmed on appeal—meaning the result of Williams’ prosecution would not have changed. *See id.* (requiring a showing that “the deficient performance prejudiced the applicant’s case”). Second, jurors were already aware that the victim had accused multiple people of sexual misconduct.⁶

CONCLUSION

Williams has not shown that counsel was deficient in failing to attempt to have the allegations against the neighbor and the paternal grandmother’s boyfriend admitted into evidence. Nor has he shown that it a decision to exclude it—the likeliest outcome—would have been reversed on appeal. And he has not shown a likelihood that even if the evidence had been admitted, it would have changed the outcome of his case. This Court should deny the petition for writ of certiorari.

⁶ *Grovenstein* is distinguishable. *See State v. Grovenstein*, 340 S.C. 210, 530 S.E.2d 406 (Ct. App. 2000). There, the court found that the exclusion of evidence that the alleged victims had been accused of similar misconduct—showing that they would know about sexual acts—was not harmless solely because it was cumulative to other evidence that they had some sexual knowledge. *See* 340 S.C. at 221, 530 S.E.2d at 412 (“Because the jury’s determination of Grovenstein’s guilt depended on whether it believed Grovenstein’s testimony or the victims’ testimony, we cannot say the exclusion of evidence that was critical to Grovenstein’s credibility was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.”). But in that case, the court noted the similarity between the acts that the victims were accused of and those they had accused the defendant of. *See id.* at 220, 530 S.E.2d at 412. Here, it is not at all clear that the incidents described at Williams’ trial did not include the incidents brought before the PCR court. And the fact that the victim had accused multiple men does not mean additional instances would have increased the jury’s doubts. At some point, the allegations would reach a point of diminishing returns.